# **RECEIVED**

# COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCON TIN-20-2015 DISTRICT ONE

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No.: 2014AP002521-CR

SHIRONSKI A. HUNTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County
The Honorable Rebecca F. Dallet Presiding
Circuit Court Case No. 2013-CF-004162

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT SHIRONSKI A. HUNTER

Submitted By:

Marisa R. Dondlinger, SBN 1064769 P.O. Box 233 Menomonee Falls, WI 53052 mrdondlinger@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant, Shironski A. Hunter

# **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Did the trial court properly admit the hearsay testimony of Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter despite the mandate of Sixth Amendment and the confrontation clause?

Circuit Court answered: Yes.

2. Was there sufficient evidence to support the jury's guilty verdict on the possession of a short-barreled shotgun, possession of a firearm and endangering safety with a dangerous weapon (intentionally pointing a firearm) charges?

Circuit Court answered: Yes.

3. Did the trial court properly allow the 911 operator to testify despite the State's failure to disclose this witness before trial, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(d)?

Circuit Court answered: Yes.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The police received a 911 call from Ms. Barbara Rimschneider on September 7, 2013 wherein she reported a violent domestic incident involving her boyfriend, Mr. Hunter, and a gun. (R. 35, p. 104:10-12; Ex. 1) (hereinafter the "Incident").

Trial Court's Pretrial Decision to Allow the Hearsay Testimony of Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter:

#### The 911 Recordings:

The 911 recordings contained statements from both Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Janelle Porter. (R. 39, Ex. 14). The State offered the recordings as evidence of the crimes because Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter did not testify at trial. The Defense agreed that the initial statements by Ms. Rimschneider on the call were admissible as both an excited utterance and a present sense impression, as well as nontestimonial under Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), because it was a call for help, but it objected to the subsequent calls by Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter because they discussed events that already happened. (R. 33, p. 17:2-18:5). The Defense argued that roughly five minutes and twenty seconds into the recording, Ms. Porter called 911 and calmly discussed the Incident and thereafter Ms. Rimschneider talked about the Incident as a past event. (R. 33, p. 17:2-23). Thus, the Defense argued that those statements were testimonial and not admissible as either an excited utterance or present sense impression. (R. 33, p. 19:4-9).

The trial court ruled that under *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813 (2006), the entirety of the 911 calls would come into evidence because the primary purpose of the call was to enable police assistance and was made during an ongoing emergency and therefore non-testimonial under *Crawford*. (App. 1-105-109; R. 33, p. 21:17-25, 22:4-11, R. 34, p. 4:4-

5

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The sole issue on appeal regarding the 911 call refers to the statements made roughly five minutes and twenty seconds into the 911 recording wherein Ms. Porter and Ms. Rimschneider address the Incident in terms of a past event. (R. 33, p. 17:4-23). There is no objection to the statements prior to this time.

5). It further held that the call from Ms. Rimschneider was an excited utterance and a present sense impression because she was under the stress of the event. (App. 1-106; R. 33, p. 22:17-25).

#### Statements Made by Ms. Rimschneider to Police:

Before the trial began, the trial court heard testimony from Police Officer Martin Saavedra to determine whether to allow Officer Saavedra to testify as to statements Ms. Rimschneider made to him upon his arrival at the scene of the Incident. Officer Saavedra testified that he arrived at the scene of the Incident within minutes of the dispatch time but could not give an exact time. (R. 33, p. 26:11-18, 38:11-20). Upon approaching the residence, Officer Saavedra saw Ms. Rimschneider standing in the middle of the street in a group of three and testified that the Incident for which he was dispatched appeared to be over. (R. 33, p. 35:12-25). Ms. Rimschneider appeared upset, according to Officer Saavedra, but was able to logically answer all of his questions. (R. 33, p. 27:4-8, 36:7-22). Officer Saavedra testified that Ms. Rimschneider identified Mr. Hunter as the suspect and stated that he was inside the house with a shotgun. (R. 33, p. 30:1-5, 17). She further told Officer Saavedra that Mr. Hunter battered her and stabbed her in the leg with a screwdriver. (R. 33, p. 30:13-20).

The Defense argued that Ms. Rimschneider's statements to Officer Saavedra should be excluded because they did not qualify as present-sense impressions or excited utterances because the Incident was over and she made the statements roughly ten minutes after the initial 911 call. (R. 33, p. 48:8-23). The statements also were not excited utterances because Ms. Rimschneider was able to calmly answer police questions. (R. 33, p. 48:24-49:3). The Defense further objected based on the confrontation clause, arguing that Ms. Rimschneider's statements to police were testimonial because she was under no immediate threat when making the statements, she was recounting past events and the purpose of the questioning was investigatory. (R. 33, p. 51:6-52:1).

In finding Ms. Rimschneider's initial statements admissible, the trial court drew the line between an ongoing

emergency versus an emergency that has ended. (App. 1-110; R. 33, p. 52:8-12). It reasoned that Ms. Rimschneider was crying and frightened upon the arrival of Officer Saavedra, had visible injuries, reported that Mr. Hunter was inside with a gun and was the one that caused her injuries. (App. 1-110; R. 33, p. 52:13-25). These facts signify that it was an ongoing emergency and her statements were made for the purpose of getting the police to locate and arrest Mr. Hunter. (App. 1-110-111; R. 33, p. 53:1-12). Thus, the statements did not violate the confrontation clause and they were also admissible as an excited utterance. (App. 1-112; R. 33, p. 54:7-22).

#### *Trial Court Decision to Allow the 911 Operator to Testify:*

On the day the trial was scheduled to begin, the State asked for a continuance because its witness, the 911 dispatcher that took the call on the night of the Incident, was ill. (R. 33, p. 4:7-20). The Defense objected to calling the witness because the State failed to list the 911 dispatcher on its witness list and subpoena her despite knowing about the 911 call for months. (R. 33, p. 5:19-6:5). The Defense argued that it did not have the opportunity to question this witness before trial and the State failed to show good cause for not subpoenaing the witness. (R. 33, p. 6:11-15, 7:2-8). Moreover, the late notice of this witness prejudiced the Defense because the witness may have provided useful information. (R. 33, p. 9:19-10:7).

The trial court offered the Defense two options: a continuance to investigate the witness or the opportunity to question the witness the morning before trial. (R. 33, p. 10:10-25). It did not find the State's omission purposeful and held it did not prejudice the Defense. (App. 1-115: R. 33, p. 11:1-11). The Defense chose to interview the witness before trial but did not waive its objection that the witness's testimony should be precluded. (R. 33, p. 11:18-12:4). The trial court ordered the State to make the witness available for questioning. (R. 34, p. 7:2-6).

On the day of trial, the State explained that it was unlikely to call the 911 operator who took the calls, but rather planned to call an employee in the Milwaukee Police

Department's telecommunications department to explain how the 911 recording and the corresponding CAD report was created, as well as a police officer in the domestic violence unit to testify to the accuracy of the recording. (R. 34, p. 7:11-9:9). The Defense objected for two reasons: fairness and improper authentication. First, the State once again modified their witness list on the day of trial, changing it from the 911 operator that took the call to the above-listed witnesses. (R. 34, p. 9:11-10:6). This change was in violation of the discovery demand filed by the Defense on January 2, 2014, but also Wis. Stat. § 971.23 requiring the State to produce the names and addresses of its witnesses "a reasonable time before trial." (R.34, p. 10:7-17). Consequently, the Defense moved to preclude the State from calling these witnesses because it was unfair to Mr. Hunter. (R. 34, p. 11:9-17). Second, the Defense argued the State needed to provide the actual 911 operator that took the call to authenticate Ms. Rimschneider's voice and ensure the correct recording was put into the system. (R. 34, p. 12:18-14:18).

The trial court offered the Defense an adjournment to prepare for these witnesses but the Defense declined. (R. 34, p. 15:23-16:5). The trial court allowed the State to authenticate the 911 calls under Wis. Stat. § 909.015(6) as a business record made in the regular course of a 911 operator's business. (R. 34, p. 18:6-19:4). As far as the delay and unfair surprise, the trial court held that little could be gleaned from these witnesses, the Defense could have done a public records request if it wanted to question these witnesses, and that the State was not trying to ambush the Defense or hide anything with these additional witnesses. (App. 1-116-117; R. 34, p. 20:16-21:4).

#### The Trial:

Upon receipt of the 911 call, Police Officer Martin Saavedra was dispatched to investigate the compliant. (R. 35, p. 104:4-12). Officer Saavedra testified that when he approached the residence he noticed three people standing in the middle of the street, in particular a black female that was screaming and waiving her hands in the air to get his attention. (R. 35, p. 107:20-25; R. 36, p. 27:11). Officer Saavedra identified the woman as Ms. Rimschneider and

testified that she appeared "hysterical, angry, crying, mad, very emotional." (R. 35, p. 108:9-11). He further noted that her face was swollen and she exhibited some minor scratches and bleeding. (R. 35, p. 109:13-15).

Officer Saavedra testified that Ms. Rimschneider told him that Mr. Hunter caused her injuries by punching her multiple times in the face and stabbing her with a screwdriver in her right leg. (R. 35, p. 109:20-110:23). Officer Saavedra further testified that Ms. Rimschneider told him that during the fight, the defendant armed himself with a sawed-off shotgun, pointed it at her and threatened to kill her. (R. 35, p. 110:16-20).

After speaking with Ms. Rimschneider and setting up a containment around the house with other officers, Officer Saavedra testified that he searched the house with Police Officer Edgard Bauzo-Santiago. (R. 35, p. 113:22-114:10). Officer Saavedra testified that he found two unspent shotgun rounds in the hallway leading to Ms. Rimschneider's bedroom. (R. 35, p. 115:20-25). Inside the house, Officer Saavedra located the victim's sister, Ms. Janelle Porter, her boyfriend and a child.<sup>2</sup> (R. 36, p. 30:20-31:2; 37:10-14). Officer Saavedra then searched the rear detached garage. (R. 35, p. 118:3-16). The garage was locked, but Officer Saavedra testified that he forced his way inside and located the defendant, Mr. Hunter. (R. 35, p. 119:11-14). Officer Saavedra reported that Mr. Hunter appeared to be intoxicated at the time of his arrest. (R. 36, p. 11:10-17).

Once Mr. Hunter was in custody, Officer Saavedra interviewed Ms. Rimschneider again and conducted a further search of the house for weapons. (R. 35, p. 122:14-16; 123:2-3). He testified that he found the shotgun hidden in a speaker compartment, inside a blue cloth bag, in the crawlspace near the hallway leading to Ms. Rimschneider's bedroom. (R. 35, p. 123:5-10). Officer Saavedra further stated that he recovered a box of ammunition inside the blue cloth bag. (R. 35, p. 123:9-10).

9

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Officer Saavedra testified that he only questioned Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter and was unaware if any other officers questioned Ms. Porter's boyfriend. (R. 36, p. 34:16-21; 40:8-14).

Officer Saavedra testified that he did not personally find the screwdriver during his search of the house. (R. 36, p. 31:20-24). Rather, Ms. Rimschneider handed him the red and black screwdriver that she alleged Mr. Hunter used to stab her in the leg. (R. 35, p. 124:21-125:5; R. 36, p. 31:8-24).

As part of the booking process, Mr. Hunter was searched for injuries and the police did not note any. (R. 35, p. 120:14-24). Officer Saavedra also testified that he did not recall any injuries on Ms. Rimschneider's hands, but he did indicate on the domestic violence supplemental report that she had either pain or injury to her right hand. (R. 36, p. 34:1-11; 39:1-7).

At the police station, the police took Mr. Hunter's fingerprints and inputted them into an electronic database. (R. 36, p. 32:10-18). Forensic Investigator Jason Reifschneider testified that he found a single fingerprint on the sticky (adhesive) side of the electrical tape, which was holding the pistol grip handle of the gun together. (R. 36, p. 54:10-18, 56:5-6). He did not fingerprint the shell casings. (R. 36, p. 62:7-10). The Milwaukee Police Department's latent print examiner, David Wagoner, confirmed that the print did not belong to Mr. Hunter, and moreover, he could not find a matching to the print within the electronic database. (R. 36, p. 66:9-23).

Police Officer Patrick Elm testified that he conducted an in-custody interview with Mr. Hunter on September 9, 2013. (R. 37, p. 7:6-11). Mr. Hunter told Officer Elm that Ms. Rimschneider was his girlfriend and they had a child together, but that he did not live with her. (R. 37, p. 11:1-5). Officer Elm testified that Mr. Hunter stated that he and Ms. Rimschneider got into an argument on the night of the Incident, wherein she hit him on the forehead. (R. 37, p. 12:8-22). Officer Elm testified that he did not notice any injury on Mr. Hunter's face, but admitted the interview took place two days after the Incident. (R. 37, p. 13:18-23, 17:20-25). During the argument Ms. Rimschneider threatened Mr. Hunter, saying she was going to "fix him" and thereafter called 911. (R. 37, p. 14:18-23). Officer Elm testified that Mr. Hunter said he hid in the garage when Ms. Rimschneider called the police because he was scared of the police coming because he was falsely accused of domestic violence in the past. (R. 37, p. 15:1-5, 18:3-14). Officer Elm testified that Mr. Hunter denied stabbing Ms. Rimschneider with a screwdriver and further denied ever possessing a shotgun. (R. 37, p. 16:2-10).

The State played the 911 calls of both Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter for the jury. (R. 37, p. 26:10-12; R. 39, Ex. 14). Thereafter the State rested and the Defense moved to dismiss the case. (R. 37, p. 27:22-23, 28:19). The trial court denied the motion to dismiss, stating that the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt based on the evidence proffered by the State. (App. 1-118; R. 37, p. 29:2-4). The Defense rested and renewed its motion to dismiss. (R. 37, p. 34:18-19). The trial court once again denied the motion, stating that the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt based on the evidence put forth by the State. (App. 1-119; R. 37, p. 34:23-35:6).

The jury found Mr. Hunter guilty of count one, felon in possession of a firearm; guilty of count two, possession of a short-barreled shotgun; guilty of count three, endangering safety by use of a dangerous weapon (intentionally pointing a firearm at a person); guilty of count four, battery, use of a dangerous weapon; and guilty of count five, disorderly conduct, use of a dangerous weapon. (R. 37, p. 97:13-98:22; R. 13-17). The Defense thereafter moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdicts. (R. 37, p. 101:13-14). The trial court denied this motion, stating that the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (App. 1-120; R. 37, p. 101:18-19). The trial court entered judgments of guilty on all five counts, including a repeater allegation on all five counts. (App. 1-101-104; R. 37, p. 101:18-23).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Hunter to five years confinement and five years extended supervision on count one; three years confinement and three years extended supervision on count two; nine months in the House of Corrections on count three; nine months in the House of Corrections on count four; and nine months in the House of Corrections on count five. (R. 38, p. 29:19-30:5). All sentences ran concurrent for a total sentence of ten years: five

years initial confinement, five years extended supervision. (R. 38, p. 30:6-9).

Mr. Hunter filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief on March 18, 2014. (R. 20). He filed a Notice of Appeal on October 28, 2014. (R. 27). Mr. Hunter now appeals the Judgment of Conviction.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE SHOULD HAVE BARRED TESTIMONY OF STATEMENTS MADE BY MS. RIMSCHNEIDER AND MS. PORTER TO THE 911 OPERATOR AND POLICE.

#### A. LEGAL STANDARDS.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution states that "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. amend. VI. The counterpart provision from the Wisconsin Constitution is essentially the same. WIS. CONST. art I, § 7.

This Court undergoes a three step analysis when deciding a confrontation clause challenge. First, the Court determines whether the challenged statements are admissible under the rules of evidence; second, if the statements are admissible, whether its admission violated the defendant's right to confront its accuser; and third, if the violation occurred, whether such error was harmless. *State v. Searcy*, 2006 WI App 8, ¶42, 288 Wis. 2d 804, 709 N.W.2d 497 (citations omitted).

#### B. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The constitutional issue of whether an out-of-court assertion violates a defendant's right to confrontation is an issue that this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Rodriguez*, 2006 WI App 163, ¶ 13, 295 Wis. 2d 801, 722 Wis. 2d 136; *see also State v. Jenson*, 2007 WI 26, ¶ 12, 299 Wis. 2d 267,

727 N.W.2d 518. "An appellate court will sustain an evidentiary ruling if it finds that the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and using a demonstrative rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *State v. Beauchamp*, 2010 WI App. 42, ¶ 7, 324 Wis. 2d 162, 781 N.W.2d 254.

#### C. ARGUMENT.

1. The Trial Court Improperly Admitted into Evidence the Statements Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter Made in the 911 Calls and those Ms. Rimschneider Made to Police Because the Statements were Hearsay and did not Qualify as Either a Present Sense Impression or an Excited Utterance.

Under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(1-2), the following types of statements are not excluded by the hearsay rule, despite the unavailability of the declarant: (1) present sense impression: A statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter; and (2) excited utterance: A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition. In determining whether a statement is an excited utterance the important factors to consider are timing and stress. *State v. Boshcka*, 178 Wis. 2d 628, 641, 496 N.W.2d 627 (Wis. App. 1992).

The trial court held that the statements made to the 911 operator and to the police at the scene came into evidence as exceptions to the hearsay rule, specifically excited utterance and present-sense impression. (App. 1-108-109, 110-112; R. 33 p. 54: 7-23; R. 34, p. 4:1-3). The trial court was incorrect.

The statements made by Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter to the 911 operator do not qualify as a present-sense impression or an excited utterance because the event or condition they both described was over. First, the statements are not present-sense impressions because, beginning at five minutes and twenty seconds into the call, both women describe the event in terms of the past. (R. 37, p. 26:10-27:6;

R. 39). They answered the operators' questions and added details as they recalled them, instead of explaining their perceptions of an ongoing event. (R. 37, p. 26:10-27:6; R. 39). Second, based on Ms. Rimschneider's statements, the statements do not qualify as an excited utterance because Ms. Rimschneider told the 911 operator that Mr. Hunter ran across the street. (R. 33, p. 17:13-18; R. 34, p. 26:10-27:6; R. 39). Thus, the stress of the event was over, rendering these statements inadmissible because both Ms. Rimschneider and Ms. Porter had time to stop and think before speaking. Muller v. State, 94 Wis. 2d 450, 467, 289 N.W.2d 570 (1980) (idea behind excited utterance exception is that "people instinctively tell the truth but when they have time to stop and think they may lie"). Given the time lapse between the triggering event and the subsequent 911 calls, as well as the lack of threat while speaking to the operator, the trial court should have ruled these statements as inadmissible hearsay.

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