RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

03-19-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP2521-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SHIRONSKI A. HUNTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent the State of Wisconsin

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9224 (Phone), (608) 266-9594 (Fax) murphyac@doj.state.wi.us

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

In this case, the circuit court was well within its discretion to admit the statements in the 911 call and to the responding officer under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. The passage of time between the domestic abuse/battery incident and the 911 call and response by police was a matter of minutes, not hours. Further, the surrounding circumstances show that the victim and her sister were in fact excited and under the immediate influence of the violent event when they made the 911 calls and when the victim first spoke to Officer Saavedra. The question on appeal is not whether this court would have admitted the statements as excited utterances, but whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion and was "manifestly wrong" in so doing. *See Muller v. State*, 94 Wis. 2d at 468.

In light of the circumstances, such as the victim's distressed and emotional demeanor observed by Officer Saavedra, the victim's sister's witnessing of the incident, which involved not only her sister but also her sister's two-month old baby, and the victim's recently sustained, visible injuries when the police arrived, the trial court was not "manifestly wrong" in admitting the statements of the victim and her sister in the 911 call and to Officer Saavedra under the hearsay exception for excited utterances. For all these reasons, the trial court correctly exercised its discretion in admitting the statements of the victim and witness on the 911 calls and of the victim to Officer Saavedra as excited utterances.

II. THE ADMISSION OF THE STATEMENTS OF THE VICTIM AND HER SISTER TO THE POLICE BEFORE THE POLICE LOCATED HUNTER DID NOT VIOLATE THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE.

If this court agrees that the 911 recordings and the victim's statements to Officer Saavedra were properly admitted as excited utterances, the next question is whether admission of these statements violated Hunter's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *See State v. Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811.

A. Relevant law and standard of review.

In a criminal trial, a defendant has the right to confront the witnesses against him or her. *See* U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. The Confrontation Clause prohibits the admission of out-of-court testimonial statements from a witness absent the accused's prior opportunity to confront the witness. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004); *State v. Rodriguez*, 2006 WI App 163, ¶ 13, 295 Wis. 2d 801, 722 N.W. 2d 136.

The Confrontation Clause, however, is not absolute. *State v. Nelson*, 138 Wis. 2d 418, 436-37, 406 N.W.2d 385 (1987). "The hearsay rule and the confrontation clause protect similar values and stem from the same roots." *State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, ¶ 70, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485 (Bradley, J., concurring). The rule and the right "serve a similar purpose: to ensure that the trier of fact has a satisfactory basis for evaluating the truthfulness of the evidence admitted in a criminal case." *State v. Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 40, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367.

However, compliance with the hearsay rule does not absolutely insure compliance with the constitutional right to confrontation. . . . Conversely, the confrontation right is not absolute, as a literal reading of that right would essentially require the exclusion of any statement made by a declarant who was not available at trial, and would necessarily exclude all hearsay evidence.

Id. (citations omitted).

In assessing the admissibility of an out-of-court statement, the first question is whether the evidence is admissible under an exception to the hearsay rule. Id. ¶ 41. If it is not, there is no need to reach the constitutional question and the evidence must be excluded. *Id.* If there is an exception to the hearsay rule under which the statement falls, though, then the court must address the Confrontation Clause issue. Id. Out-ofcourt nontestimonial statements may be admitted against a defendant when the statements were made by a witness who is unavailable at trial and "bear[] adequate indicia of reliability[, which] . . . may be inferred without more where the evidence falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception or upon a showing of 'particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.'" State v. Savanh, 2005 WI App 245, ¶ 29, 287 Wis. 2d 876, 707 N.W.2d 549 (citing and quoting State v. Manuel, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 61, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811 and Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56, 65-66 (1980), abrogated as applicable to testimonial

statements, but not as to nontestimonial statements, by Crawford, 541 U.S. 36.).

In *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813 (2006), the United States Supreme Court addressed the issue of admission of statements in 911 calls in light of a Confrontation Clause challenge. The Court was presented with the following facts: a victim made a 911 call to law enforcement personnel in which she stated that her ex-boyfriend was beating her. *Id.* at 817-18. The dispatcher asked the caller the name of her assailant, which the caller gave. *Id.* at 818. At trial, the victim did not appear and the State sought to introduce the 911 call as evidence of the defendant's guilt. *Id.* at 819. The state courts permitted it, but the question before the Supreme Court was whether doing so violated the defendant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 817, 819.

the Court determined that only testimonial opposed nontestimonial as to Confrontation Clause concerns. Id. at 821, 823-25. "It is the testimonial character of the statement that separates it from other hearsay that, while subject to traditional limitations upon hearsay evidence, is not subject to the Confrontation Clause." Id. at 821. The Court defined nontestimonial statements as statements made "under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency." Id. at 822. On the other hand, statements are testimonial "when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." Id.

In *Davis*, the Court found the victim's statements to the 911 dispatcher were nontestimonial and, therefore, admissible. 547 U.S. at 827-28, 831. The Court based its finding on the

following: the victim made the statements while she faced an ongoing emergency; she was describing the events as they were happening; the "call was plainly a call for help against bona fide physical threat"; her statements were necessary to resolve the ongoing emergency; and she was making a cry for help. *Id.* at 827, 831. Finding that "[n]o 'witness' goes into court to proclaim an emergency and seek help," the Court found that statements in the 911 call were nontestimonial within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 828.

In Rodriguez, 295 Wis. 2d 801, this court applied Davis to the same scenario as the other out-of-court statements at issue in this case – the statements of the victim to a responding police officer. This court found that "[v]ictims' excited utterances to law-enforcement officers responding to either an on-going or recently completed crime, serve, as with the 911-call, a dual role - the dichotomy between finding out what is happening as opposed to what had happened" and, "[i]nsofar as a victim's excited utterances to a responding law-enforcement officer encompass injuries for which treatment may be necessary, or reveal who inflicted those injuries, which may facilitate apprehension of the offender, they serve societal goals other than adducing evidence for later use at trial." Id. ¶ 23. "[T]he out-of-court declaration must be evaluated to determine whether it is, on one hand, overtly or covertly intended by the speaker to implicate an accused at a later judicial proceeding, or, on the other hand, is a burst of stress-generated words whose main function is to get help and succor, or to secure safety, and are thus devoid of" possible fabrication. *Id.* at \P 26.

"[T]he constitutional issue of whether admission of an out-of-court assertion violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a matter" this court reviews *de novo*. *Id*. ¶ 13. For purposes of that review, the appellate court must adopt the circuit court's findings of fact, unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Jackson*, 216 Wis. 2d 646, 655, 575 N.W.2d 475 (1998).

B. The statements of the victim and the victim's sister in the 911 recordings and of the victim to the responding officer are non-testimonial because they were made to enable police assistance to an ongoing emergency.

Hunter attempts to distinguish *Davis* and *Rodriguez* from this case by arguing that the statements of the victim and her sister in the 911 calls and the statements of the victim to Officer Saavedra were testimonial because during the later part of the 911 call, "the emergency was over;" because Hunter "had fled[,] . . . rendering her statements discussing a past event testimonial" and because the purpose of Officer Saavedra's questions to the victim "was to establish facts of a past event and not to address an ongoing emergency" (Hunter's brief at 16). The State wholly disagrees.

Although Hunter is technically correct that some of the statements in the 911 calls may have referred to the incident that had already taken place, albeit merely minutes before, this timing has no bearing on whether the statements were testimonial. Hunter appears to contend that only if the statements in the 911 call were made while Hunter was in the process of beating and pointing a shotgun at the victim, then would they qualify as nontestimonial. This is, of course, absurd.

Similarly, Officer Saavedra's questions to the victim and her responses were all made in the course of an ongoing emergency. Officer Saavedra testified that the victim appeared very hysterical, emotional, waving her hands and gesturing "trying to get our attention ... waving her hands in the air, hurry, hurry," was visibly frightened and had injuries on her face (35:108-109). After Officer Saavedra asked her what was going on, she told him that Hunter, "who she identified as the father of her two-month old, . . . had battered her and caused

her injuries" (35:109). The victim immediately also told him that "during this struggle he had armed himself with a sawed-off shotgun, had pointed it at her and had threatened to kill her. In addition, she indicated that he had grabbed a screwdriver, black and red handle and had stabbed her to her right leg" (35:110). After speaking to the victim, the police officers set up a containment around the home and then entered it, searching for the suspect using a "methodical tactical room-by-room" (35:113-114). After the initial sweep, the officers did not locate anyone in the home, but finding the rear door open, they searched the rear, detached garage and found Hunter inside (35:117-119).

Every statement made during the 911 call, and every statement made by the victim to Officer Saavedra before locating Hunter, was made during an ongoing emergency, was not an interrogation, and the purpose of the statements was to address an ongoing emergency involving bodily injury to the victim and to apprehend the victim's assailant. As in *Davis*, the victim and her sister's statements on the 911 recording were not testimonial because they were responding to questions in an effort to get police assistance to resolve an ongoing emergency. See Davis, 547 U.S. at 827. "That is true even of the operator's effort to establish the identity of the assailant, so that the dispatched officers might know whether they would be encountering a violent felon." Id. Further, as in Rodriguez, the victim's statements to Officer Saavedra while he observed her fearful demeanor and her facial injuries, were statements that were a "burst of stress-generated words whose main function [was] to get help and succor, or to secure safety." 295 Wis. 2d 801, ¶ 26.

In sum, the State contends that the statements in the entire 911 recording and by the victim to Officer Saavedra before arresting Hunter were properly admitted both because they fall squarely within the excited utterance exception to the

hearsay rule, Wis. Stat. § 908.03(2), and bear significant indication of their reliability as they were made at a time of heightened urgency and danger. *Id.*; *Savanh*, 287 Wis. 2d 876, ¶ 29, and because they were nontestimonial, made during an ongoing emergency, and therefore do not implicate Hunter's Confrontation Clause rights. *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 821.

C. Even if this court finds that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in admitting the victim and her sister's out of court statements as nontestimonial, excited utterances, any error is harmless.

If this court agrees with Hunter and finds that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in admitting any of the statements made by the victim or her sister in the 911 calls after the initial call from the victim, or by the victim to Officer Saavedra, then the State submits that the error in admitting the statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because a rational jury would have found Hunter guilty absent the error. *See State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

The main reason any error in admitting the entirety of the statements is harmless is that it is undisputed that the first five minutes and twenty seconds of the 911 call from the victim was properly admitted. As Hunter admits in his brief, he "agreed that the initial statements by [the victim] on the call were admissible as both an excited utterance and a present sense impression, as well as non-testimonial under *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), because it was a call for help" (Hunter's brief at 5); thus, according to Hunter, "[t]he sole issue on appeal regarding the 911 call refers to the statements made roughly five minutes and twenty seconds into the 911 recording wherein [the victim's sister and the victim] address the Incident in terms of a past event (R. 33, p. 17:4-23). There is

no objection to the statements prior to this time" (Hunter's brief at 5, n.1)

Because Hunter did not object the statements by the victim in the first five minutes of the 911 call, they were clearly admissible under the exception to the hearsay rule for excited utterances. Mere minutes later, after responding to the 911 call, Officer Saavedra himself observed the victim's frightened demeanor and facial injuries and upon their investigation the police located Hunter hiding in the garage of the home: all admissible evidence from Officer Saavedra's direct testimony that is indicative of Hunter's guilt. Because the victim's statements in the first five minutes of the 911 call were admissible, and were made to report the domestic violent incident to police and thus were cumulative to the later statements that Hunter objects to, a reasonable jury could have convicted Hunter based on the initial 911 call, on the Officer's testimony of his own observations, and on the fact that he was found hiding in the garage of the victim's residence. Officer Saavedra observed and testified that the victim was screaming in the street, visibly frightened and injured, including facial injuries. Therefore, even without the entirety of the statements during the 911 calls or the victim's statements to police, the jury would have been aware of the victim's fear and of her injuries. Further, the fact that police found shotgun casings in the home, a shotgun hidden in the crawlspace near the bedroom, and Hunter hiding in the garage of the residence is further circumstantial evidence sufficient to convict Hunter.

For all these reasons, if this court finds that any of the statements after the first five minutes of the 911 recording and the victim's statement to Officer Saavedra to police at the scene were not properly admitted as non-testimonial excited utterances, the error in admitting the later statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

III. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT HUNTER OF POSSESSION OF A SHOTGUN.

A. Standard of review regarding sufficiency of the evidence to support the conviction.

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